Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: July 11, 2022 REVISED: February 10, 2023 ACCEPTED: March 25, 2023 PUBLISHED: May 3, 2023

Anomalous dimensions from soft Regge constants

Ian Moult,^a Sanjay Raman,^b Gregory Ridgway^b and Iain W. Stewart^b

^aDepartment of Physics, Yale University,

217 Prospect St, New Haven, CT 06511, U.S.A.

^bCenter for Theoretical Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 77 Massachusetts Ave, Cambridge, MA 02139, U.S.A.

E-mail: ian.moult@yale.edu, sanjayra@mit.edu, gridgway@mit.edu, iains@mit.edu

ABSTRACT: Using an effective field theory (EFT) formalism for forward scattering, we reconsider the factorization of $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitudes in the Regge limit. Expanding the amplitude in gauge invariant operators labelled by the number of Glauber exchanges, allows us to further factorize the standard impact factors into separate collinear and soft functions. The soft functions are universal, and describe radiative corrections to the Reggeized gluon states exchanged by the collinear projectiles. Remarkably, we find that the one-loop soft function for the single Reggeized gluon state is given to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ in terms of the two-loop cusp and two-loop rapidity anomalous dimensions. We argue that this iterative structure follows from the simple action of crossing symmetry in the forward scattering limit, which in the EFT allows us to replace the divergent part of a soft loop by a much simpler Glauber loop. We use this correspondence to provide a simple calculation of the two-loop Regge trajectory using the EFT. We then explore its implications at higher perturbative orders, and derive the maximally matter dependent contributions to the Regge trajectory to all loop orders, i.e. the terms $\sim \alpha_s^{k+1} n_f^k$ for any k, where n_f is the number of massless flavors. These simplifications suggests that the EFT approach to the Regge limit will be helpful to explore and further understand the structure of the Regge limit.

KEYWORDS: Effective Field Theories of QCD, Scattering Amplitudes, Factorization, Renormalization Group

ARXIV EPRINT: 2207.02859



Contents

Introduction

т	11101	oduction	1
2	The factorized two-to-two forward scattering amplitude		3
	2.1	The factorized amplitude from the EFT	4
	2.2	One loop soft corrections to the Glauber potential	7
		2.2.1 Notation and perturbative constants	7
		2.2.2 Single Glauber potential	8
		2.2.3 $2 \rightarrow 2$ Glauber potential	11
	2.3	Collinear impact factors and Glauber collapse	13
3	Soft	-Glauber relations and the two-loop Regge trajectory	15
4	Leading matter dependence at higher loops		18
5	5 Conclusions		22
\mathbf{A}	A Rapidity regulators for Glauber potentials and soft operators		23

1 Introduction

The study of limits of amplitudes provides a rare glimpse into their all loop behavior. A particularly rich limit, which has long been the subject of intense study [1-11], is the high energy (Regge) limit, where the Mandelstam invariants s, t satisfy $|t| \ll s$. In this limit, there are non-trivial two dimensional dynamics in the transverse plane of the scattering; however, amplitudes and cross sections exhibit many simplifications when compared to general kinematic limits. Indeed, amplitudes in the Regge limit have been seen to exhibit a number of remarkable properties: They exhibit integrability [12, 13]; they can be used to extract high loop data to understand the space of functions appearing in scattering amplitudes [14–18]; they provide data for bootstrap approaches [19–21]; and they can even be understood non-perturbatively at finite coupling [22–24].

The simplicity of amplitudes in the Regge limit arises from their factorization into universal building blocks describing dynamics at disparate rapidities. The absence of a hard interaction further leads one to expect that the physics of the Regge limit is described entirely in terms of universal infrared quantities. In $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills ($\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM), this occurs for generic kinematics, due to the amplitude-Wilson loop duality [25–29]. However, the more general relation between the Regge trajectory and properties of Wilson loops [30, 31] shows that similar phenomena emerge in the Regge limit of QCD amplitudes. This offers the hope that other properties, such as iterative structures, are not specific to

1

 $\mathcal{N} = 4$ and may also emerge in QCD. However, despite intensive study, much less is known about the general structure of amplitudes in the Regge limit beyond the case of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. Nevertheless, intriguing results such as [32] suggest that much structure remains to be uncovered.

In this paper we re-examine the Regge limit of the simplest $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitudes using the Glauber effective field theory (EFT) [33] built into the soft collinear effective theory (SCET)) [34–38]. Taking the $gg \rightarrow gg$ process as a specific example, in the classic presentation the Regge limit of the amplitude is described up to NLL by a simple factorization [6]:

$$\mathcal{M}_{gg \to gg} = \left[g_s T^c_{aa'} C^g(p_a, p_{a'})\right] \frac{s}{t} \left[\left(\frac{-s}{-t}\right)^{\alpha(t)} + \left(\frac{s}{-t}\right)^{\alpha(t)} \right] \left[g_s T^c_{bb'} C^g(p_b, p_{b'})\right].$$
(1.1)

This result involves the so-called impact parameters C^g as well as the Regge trajectory, $\alpha(t)$. Note that the Regge trajectory can be expressed in terms of the anomalous dimensions of Wilson lines [30, 31, 39–41] while the C^g are, in principle, arbitrary constants. Similar formulae exist for scattering involving quarks, with the same $\alpha(t)$ and different impact factors C^q , see for example [42] for a detailed presentation.

In the EFT, the factorized QCD amplitude takes a different form than eq. (1.1), where it is instead expanded into gauge invariant operators labelled by the number of Glauber exchanges, each of which can be factorized into soft and collinear constants. We show that this provides a useful operator-level refactorization of the impact factors $C^i = C_s C_c^i$, which involves universal constants C_s that are independent of the projectiles (describing radiative corrections to the Reggeized gluons or the Glauber potential) and collinear constants C_c^i (which describe radiative corrections to the projectiles). The Regge trajectory $\alpha(t)$ then arises as a rapidity anomalous dimension for these soft and collinear functions [33]. The factorization of the impact factors for the IR divergent contributions, which arises as a consequence of infrared factorization for scattering amplitudes applied to the Regge limit has a long history [30, 31, 39, 40, 43, 44]. Here we use the Glauber effective theory of [33] to also obtain a factorization for the IR finite pieces of the QCD impact factors into soft and collinear contributions.

To explore this new factorization, we first compute the one-loop soft corrections for graphs with both one and two Glauber exchanges, denoted $S_1^{(1)}$ and $S_2^{(1)}$ respectively. Quite remarkably, we find that up to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ in the dimensional regularization parameter they are completely expressed in terms of the two-loop anomalous dimensions of Wilson lines. In particular, with proper normalization, $S_1^{(1)}$ to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ and $S_2^{(1)}$ to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ are given by the two-loop Regge trajectory $\alpha^{(2)}$. Thus we observe a very interesting iterative structure in the soft sector. This significantly extends an earlier observation that the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ term in $S_1^{(1)}$ was exactly given by the two-loop cusp anomalous dimension [33].

This is similar to the relation observed by Del Duca [32], who observed that the constants appearing in the one-loop quark and gluon impact factors involve the two-loop Regge trajectory. However, in his observation the impact factors are polluted by additional constants that are not related to the Regge trajectory. We take a step forward in unraveling this iterative structure by demonstrating that the same pollution does not occur for the soft

contributions to the impact factors, which are purely given by the Regge trajectory and are independent of whether we collide quarks or gluons. In our setup the contamination is associated purely with the collinear contributions which know about the identity of the projectiles.

Using the structure of the EFT, we then argue that the iterative structure for the soft constants arises naturally due to an interplay between crossing symmetry and the soft and Glauber modes in SCET. Crossing symmetry allows us to connect soft loops, which predict large logarithms, $\ln(\frac{s}{-t})$, with simpler Glauber loops, which produce factors of $i\pi$. This effectively drops the relativistic loop order by one. Using these relations allows us to prove that the two-loop Regge trajectory must appear in $S_1^{(1)}$ and $S_2^{(1)}$, thus providing a calculation of the two-loop Regge trajectory using simpler Feynman diagrams in the EFT.

Our observations about the iterative structure of terms in the soft sector of the EFT also enable us to calculate the maximal matter-dependent terms at higher orders in α_s , namely the terms $\alpha_s^{k+1}n_f^k$ for any k, where n_f is the number of light flavors. In particular we predict these maximal- n_f terms in the Regge trajectory $\alpha(t)$ to all orders in ϵ , providing useful information about the higher-loop behavior of the full Regge trajectory. We also derive a simple formula for the maximal- n_f terms in $\alpha(t)$ which are most singular $\propto \alpha_s^{k+1}n_f^k/\epsilon^{k+1}$. We use these results to obtain the $\alpha_s^3 n_f^2$ Regge trajectory to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ and obtain exact agreement with the recent explicit three-loop calculations of refs. [44, 45]. Finally, as a novel application of our results we give the $\alpha_s^4 n_f^3 \{\epsilon^{-4}, \ldots, \epsilon^0\}$ and $\alpha_s^5 n_f^4 \{\epsilon^{-5}, \ldots, \epsilon^0\}$ terms in the Regge trajectory. We confirm the singular terms in ϵ with the IR consistency formula of refs. [30, 31, 39, 40], while our predictions for the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ terms are, to our knowledge, new results.

An outline of this paper is as follows. In section 2 we discuss the structure of the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitude in the Glauber EFT, emphasizing the difference between our factorization and the classic factorization into impact factors and a Regge trajectory. We also provide perturbative results for the soft constants for one and two Glauber exchanges. Next, in section 3 we show that basic unitarity relations have an interesting interpretation in the EFT, where they relate amplitudes with different numbers of loops of soft and Glauber modes. The Glauber loops are simple and effectively constrained by unitarity constraints on the forward scattering cross section. The relation between Glauber and soft loops thus effectively enables us to "drop" the loop order of a given diagram by one order. Using this, we explain some of the iterative structure appearing in the Regge trajectory and soft contributions to impact factors; and we also provide an extremely simple calculation of the Regge trajectory to two loops. In section 4 we predict the maximal- n_f terms in the Regge trajectory $\alpha(t)$ to all orders in α_s . An overall discussion and conclusion is found in section 5.

2 The factorized two-to-two forward scattering amplitude

In this section, we investigate the factorized structure of the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitude in the Glauber effective theory, which will allow us to express the scattering amplitude as a sum of gauge invariant operators. These operators have rapidity anomalous dimensions that are related to Regge trajectories. This relationship was demonstrated at leading logarithmic order for the gluon Regge trajectory in [33]. Our focus here will be on the structure of the "constants" in the forward scattering amplitudes, which we define to be the terms not predicted by the renormalization group evolution (rapidity and UV divergences). A key feature of the Glauber EFT, which will prove helpful in improving the understanding of the structure of the impact factors, is that the EFT further factorizes the impact factors into soft and collinear constants, each of which individually arise from different gauge invariant operators in the EFT. In particular, we will see that the soft constants are purely associated with the Glauber potential (and therefore the Regge trajectory), while the collinear constants are associated with the dynamics of the projectiles. This further factorization will significantly simplify a number of the observations of Del Duca [32].

We begin by discussing the factorization of the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitude in section 2.1. This section is not meant to provide completely detailed expressions for generic contributions; instead, it serves to illustrate the nature of the factorization into soft and collinear components. We then focus in detail on the 8_A color channel in sections 2.2 and 2.3. After factorizing the impact factors into collinear and soft contributions to constants, we then explicitly calculate the constants appearing in the soft functions.

2.1 The factorized amplitude from the EFT

The Regge limit is defined by a power-counting parameter $\lambda = \sqrt{-t/s}$, and can be described by SCET [34–38] supplemented by operators incorporating Glauber potentials. Since there is no hard scattering process in the Regge limit, we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{SCET}} = \mathcal{L}_{n\bar{n}s}^{(0)} + \mathcal{L}_{G}^{(0)} , \qquad (2.1)$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}_{n\bar{n}s}^{(0)} = \mathcal{L}_{n}^{(0)} + \mathcal{L}_{\bar{n}}^{(0)} + \mathcal{L}_{s}^{(0)} , \qquad (2.2)$$

describes the factorized dynamics of soft and collinear degrees of freedom in SCET, and [33]

$$\mathcal{L}_{G}^{\mathrm{II}(0)} = e^{-ix\cdot\mathcal{P}} \sum_{n,\bar{n}} \sum_{i,j=q,g} \mathcal{O}_{n}^{iB} \frac{1}{\mathcal{P}_{\perp}^{2}} \mathcal{O}_{s}^{BC} \frac{1}{\mathcal{P}_{\perp}^{2}} \mathcal{O}_{\bar{n}}^{jC} + e^{-ix\cdot\mathcal{P}} \sum_{n} \sum_{i,j=q,g} \mathcal{O}_{n}^{iB} \frac{1}{\mathcal{P}_{\perp}^{2}} \mathcal{O}_{s}^{j_{n}B}, \qquad (2.3)$$

is the leading power Glauber Lagrangian. Here \mathcal{O}_n^{iB} , $\mathcal{O}_{\bar{n}}^{jC}$ denote particular collinear operators, while \mathcal{O}_s^{BC} and $\mathcal{O}_s^{j_n B}$ denote soft operators. The sums over i, j include quark and gluon operators. Their explicit form is not required for the current discussion, but can be found in [33]. The important feature of the Glauber Lagrangian is that it couples the n and \bar{n} degrees of freedom (undergoing the scattering in the Regge limit) together with internal soft degrees of freedom.

As shown in [33] one can derive factorized expressions for the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitude to any logarithmic order by expanding it as a sum over the number of insertions of the Glauber potential. In perturbation theory, this is a meaningful expansion, since the Glauber potential loops do not give logarithms, and so the addition of extra Glauber potential operators reduces the logarithmic order of a perturbative correction. Once the number of Glauber operators is fixed, the soft and collinear operators can be factorized to all orders in α_s .

More precisely, starting with the time evolution operator in the EFT

$$U(a,b;T) = \lim_{T \to \infty(1-i0)} \int \left[\mathcal{D}\phi \right] \exp \left[i \int_{-T}^{T} d^4x \left(\mathcal{L}_{n\bar{n}s}^{(0)}(x) + \mathcal{L}_{G}^{\text{II}(0)}(x) \right) \right],$$
(2.4)

one can expand in the number of Glauber potential insertions attaching to the n and \bar{n} projectiles, given by i and j respectively, so that

$$\exp\left[i\int_{-T}^{T} d^4x \left(\mathcal{L}_G^{\mathrm{II}(0)}(x)\right)\right] = 1 + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} U_{(i,j)}.$$
(2.5)

For any number of Glauber potential insertions, one can then factorize the soft and collinear operators to give a factorized expression for the amplitude that can be schematically written as

$$i\mathcal{M}_{2\to2} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{\infty} J_{n(i)}^{\kappa}(\nu) \otimes S_{(i,j)}(\nu) \otimes J_{\bar{n}(j)}^{\kappa'}(\nu)$$
$$= \sum_{i,j=1}^{\infty} J_{(i)}^{\kappa}(\nu) \otimes S_{(i,j)}(\nu) \otimes J_{(j)}^{\kappa'}(\nu) , \qquad (2.6)$$

where $J_{n(i)}^{\kappa}$ is a matrix element of *n*-collinear fields for the projectile κ to scatter with *i* Glauber operators, $J_{\bar{n}(j)}^{\kappa'}$ is the analog for the other projectile with \bar{n} -collinear fields, and $S_{(i,j)}$ encodes all the soft dynamics for this configuration. Here the \otimes denote integrals over transverse momenta arguments in the various J_n , $J_{\bar{n}}$, S factors that are suppressed for simplicity, $\kappa, \kappa' = q, g$ for quark or gluon projectiles, and the dimension-1 parameter ν is known as the rapidity renormalization scale. In the second line we dropped the n,\bar{n} subscripts, since the symmetry under $n \leftrightarrow \bar{n}$ implies $J_{n(i)}^{\kappa} = J_{\bar{n}(i)}^{\kappa} \equiv J_{(i)}^{\kappa}$. This factorization is illustrated in figure 1. The rapidity renormalization group evolution in ν of the different operators enables a resummation of logarithms of t/s, and gives rise to Reggeization.

While eq. (2.6) is completely general, in this paper we will be interested in understanding its implications for the Regge trajectory to two loop order for the antisymmetric-octet (8_A) color representation, which is suitable for resummation at next-to-leading logarithmic (NLL) order. By carrying out a t-channel color decomposition we can project eq. (2.6) onto the 8_A channel. For this analysis we can restrict to exchanges with $i, j \leq 2$ Glaubers. In section 2.3 we demonstrate that the collinear projectile factors are universal for one and two Glaubers, so that

$$J_{(1)}^{\kappa(8_A)} = J_{(2)}^{\kappa(8_A)} \equiv J^{\kappa(8_A)} .$$
(2.7)

For generic scattering projectiles κ, κ' , we therefore have¹

$$i\mathcal{M}_{2\to2}^{(8_A)}\Big|_{\text{NLL}} = \left(\frac{s}{-t}\right)^{\alpha(t)} J^{\kappa(8_A)} \left(\nu = \sqrt{s}\right) J^{\kappa'(8_A)} \left(\nu = \sqrt{s}\right) \\ \times \left[S_{(1,1)}^{(8_A)} \left(\nu = \sqrt{-t}\right) + S_{(2,2)}^{(8_A)} \left(\nu = \sqrt{-t}\right)\right].$$
(2.8)

¹In principle there is also a contribution $S_{(2,1)}^{(8_A)} + S_{(1,2)}^{(8_A)}$ to consider which starts at the same order in α_s as $S_{(2,2)}^{(8_A)}$. Both the real and imaginary part of these contributions vanish in the EFT [46]. However, any non-zero real part does not actually matter for the analysis here, as it could simply be absorbed into a perturbative correction to $S_{(1,1)}^{(8_A)}$.



Figure 1. Factorized structure of the $2 \rightarrow 2$ forward scattering amplitude in the Glauber EFT. The amplitude is expressed as a sum of the number of Glauber exchanges. For a fixed number of Glaubers, the collinear factors describe the interaction of the projectiles with the Glaubers, while the soft factor describes radiative corrections to the Glauber potential.

Here the collinear and soft functions are evaluated at the scales ν for which they do not contain large logarithms of s/t. The $\left(\frac{s}{-t}\right)^{\alpha(t)}$ prefactor comes from the renormalization group evolution. The anomalous dimension here is determined by the gluon Regge trajectory $\alpha(t)$. For the particular case of the 8_A color channel with two-Glauber exchange, the \otimes factors are no longer present to this order. This is a specific feature of the effective field theory for forward scattering, and highlights the difference between "Glauber gluons" and "Reggeons". To understand this, note that for Reggeons, there is no 8_A two-Reggeon state. This is because it is related by crossing symmetry to the single Reggeon exchange, and can be absorbed by shifting the argument of the logarithm (see e.g. [47] for a detailed discussion). It can therefore be viewed as dressing the single Reggeon exchange, which is a pure pole, with $i\pi$ terms. In the effective theory, there is a two-Glauber 8_A state. However, it leads to renormalization group evolution which is fixed by the same pure pole solution as for single Glauber exchange, which is necessary in order for it to be consistent with the Reggeon picture. This allows the convolution to be eliminated at this order for this specific color channel. Note that here, $S_{(1,1)}^{(8_A)}(\nu = \sqrt{-t})$ involves a single Glauber exchange and is purely real, while $S_{(2,2)}^{(8_A)}(\nu = \sqrt{-t})$ involves two Glauber exchanges with a single Glauber potential loop and is purely imaginary. As compared with the standard Regge factorization formula eq. (1.1), we have factorized the impact factors into contributions from J and S. each of which have operator definitions in the EFT. While this may seem to be minor, we will see that it leads to considerable insight into the iterative structure of these functions.

Having presented a new factorized expression for the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitude in the EFT, it is now interesting to understand the structure of the radiative corrections to the factorized components. In section 2.2 we compute the one loop soft corrections to the Glauber potential, which we will ultimately show are closely related with the Regge trajectory itself. The nature of the collinear functions is briefly discussed in section 2.3.

2.2 One loop soft corrections to the Glauber potential

In this section we consider the one-loop soft corrections to the $1 \rightarrow 1$ and $2 \rightarrow 2$ Glauber potentials.

2.2.1 Notation and perturbative constants

Our results for the soft corrections to the Glauber potential simplify considerably when expressed in terms of a variety of commonly used constants. Here we briefly summarize these constants so that our later presentation of the results can be made as compact as possible.

Since Glauber integrals reduce to effective two dimensional integrals in the transverse space, we will often encounter the two-dimensional euclidean Glauber box integral, expressed in terms of a bubble integral

$$\int \frac{d^{2-2\epsilon} \vec{k}_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^{2-2\epsilon}} \frac{1}{\left(\vec{k}_{\perp}^{2}\right)^{\alpha} \left[\left(\vec{q}_{\perp} + \vec{k}_{\perp}\right)^{2}\right]^{\beta}} = \frac{B(\alpha, \beta)}{(4\pi)^{1-\epsilon}} (\vec{q}_{\perp}^{2})^{1-\epsilon-\alpha-\beta},$$
(2.9)

where

$$B(\alpha,\beta) \equiv \frac{\Gamma\left(1-\alpha-\epsilon\right)\Gamma\left(1-\beta-\epsilon\right)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta-1+\epsilon)}{\Gamma\left(\alpha\right)\Gamma\left(\beta\right)\Gamma\left(2-\alpha-\beta-2\epsilon\right)}.$$
(2.10)

We will also find it convenient to use a modified coupling $\tilde{\alpha}_s$, which is often referred to as the high energy coupling, see e.g. [32]. It is defined in terms of the standard bare coupling α_s or renormalized coupling $\alpha_s(\mu)$ as follows:

$$\tilde{\alpha}_{s} = -\frac{\epsilon}{2}B(1,1)\left(\frac{\vec{q}_{\perp}^{2}}{4\pi}\right)^{-\epsilon}\alpha_{s} = -\frac{\epsilon}{2}B(1,1)Z_{\alpha}\left(\frac{\mu^{2}e^{\gamma_{E}}}{\vec{q}_{\perp}^{2}}\right)^{\epsilon}\alpha_{s}(\mu)$$

$$= Z_{\alpha}\left(\frac{\mu^{2}e^{\gamma_{E}}}{\vec{q}_{\perp}^{2}}\right)^{\epsilon}\frac{\Gamma\left(1-\epsilon\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\epsilon\right)}{\Gamma\left(1-2\epsilon\right)}\alpha_{s}(\mu)$$

$$= Z_{\alpha}\left(\frac{\mu^{2}}{\vec{q}_{\perp}^{2}}\right)^{\epsilon}\left(1-\frac{\pi^{2}}{12}\epsilon^{2}-\frac{7\zeta_{3}}{3}\epsilon^{3}+\ldots\right)\alpha_{s}(\mu), \qquad (2.11)$$

where Z_{α} is the coupling renormalization factor in $\overline{\text{MS}}$. The coupling $\tilde{\alpha}_s$ absorbs common ϵ dependence from the Glauber box integral. We will also find it convenient to normalize some of our results to the following ratio of bubble integrals

$$A(\epsilon) = \frac{3}{4} \frac{B(1,1)}{B(1,1+\epsilon)} = 1 + 6\zeta_3 \epsilon^3 + \cdots .$$
 (2.12)

At one loop, where the leading divergences are $1/\epsilon^2$, this only modifies the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ terms.

Using the modified coupling, we will be able to write our one loop results entirely in terms of constants appearing in the two-loop Regge trajectory. Expanding the Regge trajectory perturbatively in terms of the high energy coupling as

$$\alpha(t) = \sum_{L=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s}{4\pi}\right)^L \alpha^{(L)}(\epsilon) , \qquad (2.13)$$

we have the following expressions up to two-loop order [48-51]:

$$\alpha^{(1)}(\epsilon) = \frac{2C_A}{\epsilon}, \qquad (2.14)$$

$$\alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon) = \frac{\beta_0}{\epsilon^2} C_A + 2 \frac{\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(1)}}{\epsilon} C_A + \Gamma_R^{(1)} \,. \tag{2.15}$$

We also expand the β -function and cusp anomalous dimension as

$$\beta(\alpha_s) = -2\alpha_s \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \beta_n \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^{n+1}, \qquad \Gamma_{\text{cusp}}(\alpha_s) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(n)} \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{\pi}\right)^{n+1}, \qquad (2.16)$$

where the one and two-loop cusp anomalous dimensions are [52]

$$\Gamma_{\rm cusp}^{(0)} = 2, \qquad \Gamma_{\rm cusp}^{(1)} = -\frac{5n_f}{9} + C_A \left(\frac{67}{18} - \frac{\pi^2}{6}\right), \qquad (2.17)$$

 $\beta_0 = (11C_A - 4T_F n_f)/3$ is the one-loop β -function, C_A and C_F are the quadratic Casimirs for the adjoint and fundamental representations, respectively, n_f is the number of quark flavors, and $T_F = 1/2$. Finally $\Gamma_R^{(1)}$ is the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ term in the two-loop Regge trajectory and is given by

$$\Gamma_R^{(1)} = -\frac{56C_A n_f}{27} + C_A^2 \left(\frac{404}{27} - 2\zeta_3\right) \,. \tag{2.18}$$

In a generic gauge theory, the relation between $\Gamma_R^{(1)}$ and other anomalous dimensions is not known. In $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM, $\Gamma_R^{(1)}$ is equivalent to the collinear anomalous dimension [29]. In QCD an intriguing relation to certain anomalous dimensions of cusped Wilson lines [53] has been observed to two-loops, but it is unclear if this persists to higher order. For a recent discussion of relations between anomalous dimensions, see [54].

2.2.2 Single Glauber potential

We begin by considering the radiative corrections to the single Glauber potential at oneloop. These calculations were first performed in [33] using a mass regulator. Here we use dimensional regularization for infrared singularities; since the setup for the calculations is analogous to [33], we provide few details. We will also extend the calculation to determine the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ terms, inspired by the observations of [32].

We expand the single Glauber potential perturbatively as

$$S_{(1,1)}^{(8_A)} \equiv S_1 = S_1^{(0)} \left[1 + \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s}{4\pi} \right) S_1^{(1)} + \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s}{4\pi} \right)^2 S_1^{(2)} + \cdots \right], \qquad (2.19)$$

where the tree level Glauber exchange potential is given by

$$S_{1}^{(0)} = \begin{pmatrix} n \xrightarrow{p_{2}} p_{3} & n \\ q & \uparrow & \uparrow \\ \bar{n} \xrightarrow{q} p_{4} & \bar{n} \end{pmatrix}^{(8_{A})} = -\frac{8\pi i \alpha_{s}}{\bar{q}_{\perp}^{2}} = \frac{8\pi i \alpha_{s}}{t} .$$
(2.20)

This will be used to normalize our results. In $S_1^{(i)}$ the subscript 1 denotes that this is the single Glauber exchange, and the superscript (i) denotes the number of soft loops. More generally $S_j^{(i)}$ will denote coefficients of the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^{i+j})$ term from the sum of graphs with j Glauber exchanges and i soft loops. Below we will always use the notation $t = -\vec{q}_{\perp}^2$. Note that we use a dashed line for the projectiles in Feynman diagrams, which will however always be transverse gluons for our calculations. We also always strip off a common polarization dependent prefactor in our Feynman graphs, which is $(s \vec{\epsilon}_2^{\perp} \cdot \vec{\epsilon}_3^{\perp} \vec{\epsilon}_1^{\perp} \cdot \vec{\epsilon}_4^{\perp})$, where $s = n \cdot p_1 \bar{n} \cdot p_2$ to leading order in the $|t| \ll s$ expansion. Finally, eq. (2.20) defines our normalization convention for projection onto (8_A) as this is the only color channel for this diagram.

At one-loop there are two corrections to the Glauber potential, involving either a soft quark loop, or a soft gluon loop. Although these look like pure vacuum polarization graphs, the gluon loop graph involves both vacuum polarization and Wilson line contributions at this order. Furthermore, since the result is formulated in terms of gauge invariant operators in the EFT, ghost loops are not required at this order, and the gluon loop also has rapidity divergences from the presence of Wilson lines in the soft gluon operator. We use the rapidity regulator η , and expand results in the limit $\eta \to 0$ to separate the rapidity divergent and constant terms, see [33, 55]. Performing the calculations, we find that

$$\begin{pmatrix}
\vec{n} \\
\vec{n}$$

and

$$\begin{pmatrix}
\overline{n} & \overline{n} & \overline{n} \\
\overline{n} & \overline{n} & \overline{n}
\end{pmatrix}^{(8_A)} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{\pi} C_A S_1^{(0)} \left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma_E}}{-t}\right)^{\epsilon} \left\{ \frac{\Gamma \left(2-\epsilon\right)^2}{\Gamma \left(4-2\epsilon\right)} \Gamma \left(\epsilon\right) - 2 \frac{\Gamma \left(1-\epsilon\right)^2}{\Gamma \left(2-2\epsilon\right)} \Gamma \left(\epsilon\right) \\
+ \frac{\Gamma \left(\frac{\eta}{2}\right) \Gamma \left(\frac{1-\eta}{2}\right) \Gamma \left(1+\epsilon+\frac{\eta}{2}\right) \Gamma \left(-\epsilon-\frac{\eta}{2}\right)}{\Gamma \left(1+\frac{\eta}{2}\right) \Gamma \left(\frac{1}{2}-\epsilon-\frac{\eta}{2}\right)} 4^{\epsilon} \left(\frac{\nu^2}{-t}\right)^{\frac{\eta}{2}} \right\}, \quad (2.22)$$

which expanding for $\eta \to 0$ and setting $\nu = \sqrt{-t}$ gives the desired constant terms

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{n} & \vec{n} & \vec{n} \\ \vec{n} & \vec{n}$$

Here the $1/\epsilon^k$ terms are IR divergences, and the soft constant includes both these and infrared finite terms. The SCET Glauber operator with two gluons generates a number of terms in eq. (2.22), including standard vacuum polarization contributions as well as

terms with eikonal denominators that lead to rapidity divergences, see ref. [33] for details. The subscripts on the graph in eq. (2.23) remind us that the soft constants are defined as renormalized quantities in a scheme that minimally subtracts the $1/\eta$ rapidity divergences. The subscript $\mathcal{O}(\eta^0)$ indicates that in the definition of the soft constants we cancel the η divergent terms against the η divergent terms from the collinear sector. Additionally, we take the rapidity scale $\nu = \sqrt{-t}$ to eliminate large logarithms in the soft function, as dictated by eq. (2.8).

Notice also that we have kept terms up to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$. At two-loops we will see that these terms will iterate such that they multiply the $\frac{1}{\epsilon}$ divergent $\alpha^{(1)}$ in eq. (2.14), and hence contribute to the constant piece of the two-loop Regge trajectory.

Summing the above two soft graphs then gives us the 1-loop, 1-Glauber soft constant

$$\begin{pmatrix}
\vec{n} & \vec{n} \\
\vec{n} & \vec{n}
\end{pmatrix}
^{(8_A)} + \begin{pmatrix}
\vec{n} & \vec{n} \\
\vec{n} & \vec{n}
\end{pmatrix}
^{(8_A)} \\
\vec{n} & \vec{n} & \vec{n}
\end{pmatrix}
^{(8_A)} \\
= S_1^{(0)} \frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s}{4\pi} A(\epsilon) \left[-\frac{2C_A}{\epsilon^2} + \frac{(11C_A - 2n_f)}{3\epsilon} - \frac{C_A \pi^2}{3} - \frac{10n_f}{9} + \frac{67C_A}{9} \\
+ \left(\frac{404C_A}{27} - \frac{56n_f}{27} - 2C_A \zeta_3 \right) \epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) \right] \\
= \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s}{4\pi} \right) S_1^{(0)} A(\epsilon) \left(-\frac{C_A \Gamma_{cusp}^{(0)}}{\epsilon^2} + \epsilon \frac{\alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon)}{C_A} \right).$$
(2.24)

Quite remarkably, we find that the one loop soft constant at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ is given entirely by the two loop Regge trajectory $\alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon)$! In ref. [33] the fact that the one soft loop calculation at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ involved the two-loop cusp anomalous dimension, $\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(1)}$, was noted. The analysis done here extends this result to much more intriguing full $\alpha^{(2)}$ from eq. (2.14). This result is naively quite surprising since it appears that we can obtain two loop anomalous dimensions by carrying out a one-loop calculation. We will explain the reason why this occurs, and argue that it is actually quite natural, in section 3. Note that by construction, this soft region radiative correction is independent of the nature of the projectile, and isolates the constant radiative correction associated with the Reggeized gluon.

For future applications, where these one loop corrections will be iterated, it is useful to split the one loop result into its contributions that came from rapidity divergent contributions, and those that are free of rapidity divergences. We therefore take the calculations in eqs. (2.21) and (2.22) and organize them as

$$S_1^{(1)} = \left(\frac{2\alpha^{(1)}(\epsilon)}{\eta} + f(\epsilon) + \mathcal{O}(\eta)\right) \left(\frac{\nu^2}{-t}\right)^{\frac{\eta}{2}} + g(\epsilon), \qquad (2.25)$$

where

$$f(\epsilon) = A(\epsilon) \left(-\frac{2C_A}{\epsilon^2} - \frac{C_A \pi^2}{3} - 2C_A \zeta_3 \epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) \right),$$
(2.26)

$$g(\epsilon) = A(\epsilon) \left(\frac{(11C_A - 2n_f)}{3\epsilon} - \frac{10n_f}{9} + \frac{67C_A}{9} + \left(\frac{404C_A}{27} - \frac{56n_f}{27} \right) \epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) \right).$$
(2.27)

Here we see that the rapidity divergent induced contribution $f(\epsilon)$ is of uniform transcendental weight (where the weight of ζ_n is n and weight of ϵ is -1) and independent of the matter content of the theory, since it arises only from Wilson line diagrams. The non-rapidity divergent contribution $g(\epsilon)$ contains the matter dependent contributions, and is not of uniform weight.

2.2.3 $2 \rightarrow 2$ Glauber potential

We now consider the one-loop soft corrections to the $2 \rightarrow 2$ Glauber potential. We expand the $2 \rightarrow 2$ Glauber potential perturbatively as

$$S_{(2,2)}^{(8_A)} \equiv i\pi S_2 = i\pi S_1^{(0)} \left[\left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s}{4\pi} \right) S_2^{(0)} + \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s}{4\pi} \right)^2 S_2^{(1)} + \cdots \right].$$
(2.28)

Since the presence of a Glauber potential loop always leads to a factor of $i\pi$, it is convenient to make this explicit so that the remaining $S_2^{(k)}$ factors are real. Here the base amplitude is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \stackrel{n}{\longrightarrow} \stackrel{k_{i}+p_{3}}{\longrightarrow} \stackrel{n}{\longrightarrow} \\ \stackrel{k_{i+q}}{\longrightarrow} \stackrel{-k_{i}}{\longrightarrow} \stackrel{k_{i}+p_{3}}{\longrightarrow} \stackrel{n}{\longrightarrow} \end{pmatrix}^{(8_{A})} = (i\pi) \left(\frac{\alpha_{s}}{4\pi}\right) S_{1}^{(0)} \left(\frac{-t}{4\pi}\right)^{-\epsilon} \frac{B(1,1)}{2} C_{A}$$
$$= (i\pi) \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_{s}}{4\pi}\right) S_{1}^{(0)} \left(-\frac{C_{A}}{\epsilon}\right) , \qquad (2.29)$$

so that we can identify

$$S_2^{(0)} = -\frac{C_A}{\epsilon} = -\frac{\alpha^{(1)}(\epsilon)}{2}.$$
 (2.30)

Here the subscript emphasizes that this is two Glauber exchange, and the superscript denotes the number of soft loops. We thus see why the modified coupling $\tilde{\alpha}_s$ is natural — it arises precisely from the Glauber box integral. The expression for the one-loop Regge trajectory when expanded in $\tilde{\alpha}_s$ then becomes especially simple.

Note that the existence of the two Glauber exchange graph in eq. (2.30) also highlights a difference that the Glauber based expansion has from the Reggeon expansion. In the Glauber case it is needed for the effective field theory to be unitary. In the Reggeon case an 8_A contribution from an analogous box graph does not exist, and is subsumed by the expansion in objects with definite signature [56].

The three graphs contributing to the one-loop correction to the $2 \rightarrow 2$ Glauber potential are shown in figure 2. Two of the three graphs are iterations of the one loop graph, and the third is the so called H-graph, which is uniform weight. It is therefore convenient to write

$$S_2^{(1)} = S_{2,\text{iterative}}^{(1)} + S_{2,H}^{(1)}$$
(2.31)



Figure 2. Using crossing symmetry, the two loop Regge trajectory can be computed from three simple graphs. The trivial left-right flipped versions of the first two graphs are present but not shown.

The results for the iterative graphs follow in a straightforward manner from their one loop counterparts since the extra Glauber loop simply adds a Glauber box integral

$$=i\pi S_1^{(0)} \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s}{4\pi}\right)^2 C_A \left\{ 2\left(\frac{2\alpha^{(1)}(\epsilon)}{\eta} + f(\epsilon) + \mathcal{O}(\eta)\right) \left(\frac{\nu^2}{-t}\right)^{\frac{\eta}{2}} \frac{B(1, 1+\epsilon+\eta/2)}{(-\epsilon)B(1, 1)} + 2g(\epsilon)\frac{B(1, 1+\epsilon)}{(-\epsilon)B(1, 1)} \right\}$$

Here the factor of two multiplying each iterated graph accounts for the fact that each soft loop could have appeared on either Glauber. We see that the non-rapidity divergent contributions from $g(\epsilon)$ iterate trivially, since they are just multiplied by the bubble $B(1, 1 + \epsilon)$. The rapidity dependent terms also iterate, albeit in a slightly more non-trivial manner due to the appearance of η in the argument of the Glauber box integral $B(1, 1 + \epsilon + \eta/2)$. Expanding eq. (2.32) we can read off the desired constant terms

$$2 \times \left(\underbrace{\tilde{n}}_{\bar{n}} \\ \tilde{n} \\ \tilde{n} \\ \bar{n} \\ \bar{n}$$

which corresponds to

$$S_{2,\text{iterative}}^{(1)} = A(\epsilon) \left[\frac{7}{2\epsilon^3} C_A^2 - \frac{3}{2} \alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) \right].$$
(2.34)

The $A(\epsilon)$ is defined in eq. (2.12) and has an expansion $A(\epsilon) = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)$. We choose to normalize using $A(\epsilon)$ to simplify the structure of eq. (2.34). In the end when we add various contributions together, the use of $A(\epsilon)$ in the normalization will not have any impact on our final results for the matter dependent contributions, since they only start at $1/\epsilon^2$ in $\alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon)$.

This result relies strongly on a modified η regulator for Glauber operators, which is explained in more detail in appendix A. In section 3 we will use this result, combined

with relations derived from crossing symmetry and unitarity to compute the two-loop Regge trajectory.

For the H-graph, we find

Here I_1 is a two-loop Glauber box integral whose expansion in ϵ is given by

$$I_1 = \left(\frac{4}{\epsilon^2} - 4\zeta_2 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)\right) + \frac{\eta}{2} \left(-\frac{1}{\epsilon^3} + \frac{\zeta_2}{\epsilon} - \frac{76}{3}\zeta_3 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)\right) + \mathcal{O}(\eta^2).$$
(2.36)

The integral I_1 is known to all orders in ϵ [57, 58], although we will not need higher orders in ϵ for this paper. The desired constant terms are

$$\begin{pmatrix} \stackrel{n \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow n}{\underset{\bar{n} \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow \bar{n}}{S}} \\ \stackrel{S}{\underset{\bar{n} \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow \bar{n}}{S}} \end{pmatrix}_{\nu = \sqrt{-t}}^{(8_A)} = (i\pi) \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s}{4\pi}\right)^2 S_1^{(0)} A(\epsilon) C_A^2 \left(-\frac{3}{2\epsilon^3} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)\right), \quad (2.37)$$

which yields

$$S_{2,H}^{(1)} = A(\epsilon) \left[-\frac{3C_A^2}{2\epsilon^3} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) \right].$$
 (2.38)

Therefore we see that, as expected, the H-graph is uniform weight, and in fact is a pure $1/\epsilon^3$ pole in our normalization.

Combining the iterated graphs with the H-graph then gives us the 2-loop, 2-Glauber soft constant,

$$S_{2}^{(1)} = S_{2,\text{iterative}}^{(1)} + S_{2,H}^{(1)} = A(\epsilon) \left[\frac{2C_{A}^{2}}{\epsilon^{3}} - \frac{3}{2} \alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) \right].$$
(2.39)

2.3 Collinear impact factors and Glauber collapse

We have seen in the previous section that the soft constants are independent of the collinear projectiles, and purely associated with the dynamics of the Glauber gluons. We therefore expect them to have a direct connection with the Regge trajectory. This has already been made clear by the values of the soft constants, and will be further explained in section 3. As discussed earlier, the EFT provides a factorization of the standard impact factors, $C^i = C_s C_c^i$, into the soft factors, C_s and the "collinear impact factors" C_c^i . Here we will argue that for the results considered in this work (or more generally under certain approximations), the collinear impact factors are independent of the Glaubers, and depend only on the projectile. Our discussion here will be somewhat brief, including only ingredients necessary for this paper, and leaving a more detailed discussion to ref. [59].



Figure 3. Two-loop mixed Glauber-collinear graphs. The non-planar graph in (a) has a vanishing contribution to the octet channel. The modified η' regulator introduced in this paper guarantees an exact factorization to all orders in the regulator of the Glauber and collinear loops in (b), (c) including for the constant terms, as well as enforces the collapse rule to make (d) and (e) vanish.

In this paper we focus on the octet contribution at two-loops, governed by the two-loop gluon Regge trajectory. Because of this, for simplicity, in this section we can restrict ourselves to the planar limit, which suffices for the octet channel at two-loops, as well as in the large n_f limit considered in section 4. This is the case because the non-planar two-loop graph in figure 3a does not give a contribution to the 8_A color channel. For planar graphs the collinear constants have a simple interpretation, manifestly independent of the number of Glauber operators.

In [33] a collapse rule was derived, showing that graphs with multiple Glauber exchanges are non-vanishing only if all Glauber exchanges can collapse towards each other to the same spacetime point, allowing one to reproduce the shockwave picture. In this analysis a common η regulator was used for both the soft, collinear and Glauber sectors. At higher loop orders, the picture becomes more intricate, because we encounter diagrams with both Glauber and collinear (or soft) loops, which both require the η regulator. The Glauber loops never diverge, i.e. never give $1/\eta$ factors that are connected to large logarithms, but they do give $\mathcal{O}(\eta)$ terms, which at two-loops and beyond can interfere with divergent $1/\eta$ contributions from soft and collinear loops. This results in the presence of η/η terms that can give finite contributions. For example, in graphs such as figure 3b,e, we will get an η/η term that entangles the results from the $1/\eta$ -divergent collinear loop and $\mathcal{O}(\eta)$ terms from the Glauber loop. While the soft and collinear regulators are tied by consistency of the rapidity renormalization group, we explain here that the Glauber loops must have a distinct regulator η' , and that it is important to take $\eta' \to 0$ first in order to correctly reproduce the IR divergences in QCD and also preserve key properties of the EFT at higher loop orders. Further details are provided in appendix A. Thus we have extended the regulator of [33], by introducing a distinct regulator η' for the Glauber sector, keeping the same η regulator for the soft/collinear sectors. By taking $\eta' \to 0$ prior to expanding in the limit $\eta \to 0$, terms proportional to $\eta'/\eta \to 0$. This modification to the regulator ensures that the collapse rules of SCET with Glauber operators remain true even in the presence of rapidity divergent subdiagrams, yielding a simpler structure of factorization of soft, collinear and Glauber dynamics at higher loop orders. In particular, with this modification figure 3e vanishes, for the same reason that figure 3d vanishes from the collapse rule.

Returning to the example of the two loop mixed collinear and Glauber loop graphs in figure 3, the modified regulator completely factorizes the calculation of the collinear and Glauber dynamics in planar graphs like figure 3b,c. By first computing the plus and minus Glauber loop integrals, then taking the limit $\eta' \to 0$ with finite η , we collapse the Glauber exchanges together [33]. This completely eliminates the collinear propagators that are between the two Glauber exchanges, so the double Glauber exchange appears to the remaining parts of the diagram in an identical manner to as if we started with a single Glauber exchange rather than two exchanges. The result for the remaining collinear loop integral is therefore identical to the one at one lower order, i.e. the same for both the single and double Glauber exchange. For the octet channel this implies the equality of collinear factors given in eq. (2.7).

This equality for the collinear loop results extends to planar graphs with even more than two Glauber exchanges on the same collinear line. This implies that the collinear part of the impact factors, C_c^i are independent of the number of Glaubers in the planar limit, and are a feature only of the projectiles, whereas all dependence on the Glauber dynamics is in the soft factors. This required modification to the regulator also trivializes the all orders proof of Reggeization in the planar limit, which will be discussed in more detail in [59]. We believe it is an important step towards an all orders understanding of the structure of the Glauber EFT. Below in section 3 we will use unitarity relations to derive the two-loop Regge trajectory. This derivation tests the constants of two loop mixed soft-Glauber and collinear-Glauber diagrams, and provides an additional extremely strong confirmation of the correctness of our modified regulator, as it tests both $\mathcal{O}(\eta^0)$ and $\mathcal{O}(\eta'/\eta) \to 0$ terms.

3 Soft-Glauber relations and the two-loop Regge trajectory

In this section we describe the origin of the iterative structure of the soft function. We will show that this arises from an interesting interplay between crossing symmetry and the modal factorization (soft, collinear, Glauber) in the EFT. This will also make clear why the collinear dynamics plays no role in this structure.

The interplay between crossing symmetry and the Regge limit has a long history, and is encapsulated in the notion of "signature" in Regge theory. This has played an important role in many recent perturbative studies of the Regge limit. In particular, it implies that high energy logarithms appear in the particular combination $\log(|s|/|t|) - i\pi/2$ [47]. This simple statement turns out to be extremely powerful in the EFT approach to the Regge limit due to the fact that logarithms are reproduced by soft or collinear loops, whereas factors of $i\pi$ are reproduced by Glauber loops. Crossing symmetry therefore has the effect of relating EFT graphs of completely different structures. Most importantly, because Glauber loops are significantly simpler to compute, it allows the exchange of one soft loop for a Glauber loop, effectively dropping the loop order of the calculation.

Although crossing symmetry can be studied directly within the EFT, at the order we work it is conveniently encapsulated into the crossing symmetric expression for the antisymmetric octet exchange for generic projectiles [6]

$$i\mathcal{M}_{2\to2}^{(8_A)}\Big|_{\text{NLL}} = ig_s^2 \left(\frac{s}{t}\right) C_i(p_2, p_3) \left[\left(\frac{s+i0}{-t}\right)^{\alpha(t)} + \left(\frac{-s-i0}{-t}\right)^{\alpha(t)} \right] C_j(p_1, p_4) \\ = ig_s^2 \left(\frac{s}{t}\right) C_i(p_2, p_3) \left(\frac{s}{-t}\right)^{\alpha(t)} \left[1 + e^{-i\pi\alpha(t)} \right] C_j(p_1, p_4).$$
(3.1)

This formula holds to NLL for a general number of colors [42], and to all orders in the planar limit. Expanding this formula to NLL (i.e. up to two loops in the Regge trajectory), and comparing with our result, we find

$$\left(\frac{s}{-t}\right)^{\alpha(t)} J_i J_j [S_1 + i\pi S_2] = g_s^2 \left(\frac{s}{t}\right) C_i C_j [2 - i\pi\alpha(t)] \left(\frac{s}{-t}\right)^{\alpha(t)}, \qquad (3.2)$$

from which we derive that to NLL, we have

$$\alpha(t) = -2\frac{S_2}{S_1}.$$
(3.3)

Expanding this expression perturbatively using eqs. (2.13), (2.19), (2.28), we have

$$\alpha^{(1)}(\epsilon) = -2S_2^{(0)} , \qquad (3.4a)$$

$$\alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon) = -2\left(S_2^{(1)} - S_1^{(1)}S_2^{(0)}\right).$$
(3.4b)

This makes clear that the Regge trajectory can be computed in terms of diagrams with one less soft loop. Beyond NLL, one must incorporate triple Glauber exchange, which we leave to future work.

Using our perturbative data

$$S_{2}^{(0)} = -\frac{C_{A}}{\epsilon} = -\frac{\alpha^{(1)}(\epsilon)}{2}, \qquad (3.5)$$

$$S_{1}^{(1)} = A(\epsilon) \left(-\frac{2C_{A}}{\epsilon^{2}} + \epsilon \frac{\alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon)}{C_{A}} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{2}) \right), \qquad (3.5)$$

$$S_{2}^{(1)} = A(\epsilon) \left(\frac{2}{\epsilon^{3}} C_{A}^{2} - \frac{3}{2} \alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) \right),$$

we see that the relations in eq. (3.4) are manifestly true, since we have expressed all our perturbative data in terms of the Regge trajectory. For $\alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon)$ the $1/\epsilon^3$ terms cancel between the $S_2^{(1)}$ and $-S_1^{(1)}S_2^{(0)}$ terms. After this cancellation we can use $A(\epsilon) = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)$ and drop the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)$ terms, which would enter $\alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon)$ only at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$. Thus our results in eq. (3.5) give

$$\alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon) = \frac{\beta_0}{\epsilon^2} C_A + 2 \frac{\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(1)}}{\epsilon} C_A - \frac{56C_A n_f}{27} + C_A^2 \left(\frac{404}{27} - 2\zeta_3\right), \qquad (3.6)$$

which reproduces the well known result for the two-loop gluon Regge trajectory [42, 48–51].

We believe that our EFT calculation of the two-loop Regge trajectory is interesting for a number of reasons. First, it provides an extremely simple calculation of the two-loop Regge trajectory, involving only the calculation of the three graphs shown in figure 2. This should be compared with the naive soft loop graphs that would be required to calculate the two-loop Regge trajectory in the EFT, which are shown in figure 4. The classic calculations of the Regge trajectory are also based on two-loop graphs from this soft region of phase space. Essentially crossing symmetry allows us to relate one soft loop to a Glauber loop, significantly simplifying the calculation, both in terms of the number, and complexity, of



Figure 4. Graphs required to directly compute the two-loop Regge trajectory in the EFT (Graphs obtained by left-right or up-down reflections are not shown). Using unitarity and crossing symmetry, this can be reduced to the three graphs shown in figure 2.

the diagrams involved. This also provides a strong check on the structure of the EFT at the two-loop level. In particular, our derivation provides a strong test that the rapidity regulators (see appendix A) in the EFT preserve unitarity. In section 4, we will illustrate that this simplification persists at higher perturbative orders by deriving the leading matter contributions to the Regge trajectory at three and four loops. Furthermore, our approach should also allow simple calculations of the Regge trajectory for the quark using the quark Glauber operators derived in [60].

Secondly, this expression for the Regge trajectory also sheds significant light on the observation of Del Duca [32] that the two-loop Regge trajectory appears in the one-loop impact factors. First, we are able to refine his observation. Del Duca observed that the two-loop Regge trajectory could be found in the quark or gluon impact factors although in both cases there was contamination, and in particular, there was significant additional contamination for the case of quarks. In our approach, the two-loop Regge trajectory is found in the constants of the soft function, which are manifestly independent of the scattered projectiles, and so there is no contamination. Due to the unitarity relations and the simple structure of the Glauber graphs in the EFT, we can begin to understand why such an iterative structure is plausible, and why it is in the soft and not the collinear sector.

First, in section 2, we emphasized that in the EFT the impact factors are further factorized into a soft constant associated with the Glauber potential, and a collinear constant associated with the projectiles. It is clear that this factorization is convenient from the perspective of universality; namely, the soft constant is independent of the projectiles. We also believe that there is an important physical distinction, associated with the way that the soft and collinear corrections iterate into higher Glauber graphs. It would be interesting to explore whether it also provides simplifications in theories like $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills. In the unitarity relation used above where we have related the two-loop Regge trajectory to

the soft constant for two-Glauber exchange, the collinear corrections did not enter, since they are independent of the number of Glaubers, and so factor out. On the other hand, the soft constants feed into higher Glauber loops, leading to an iterative relation. Indeed, in the absence of the H-graph, the relation

$$\alpha^{(2)}(\epsilon) = -2\left(S_2^{(1)} - S_1^{(1)}S_2^{(0)}\right), \qquad (3.7)$$

would immediately give an iterative relation between the two-loop Regge trajectory, and the one-loop soft constants. In particular, since the H-graph is matter independent, it immediately proves the relation of Del Duca for the matter dependent terms. In section 4 we will extend this to the leading matter terms at all loops. Furthermore, since the H-graph is maximal weight, it also explains why Del Duca's relation holds for the non-maximal weight terms. The intriguing observation is that the only role of the H-graph is to remove the $1/\epsilon^3$ pole that is present in the iterated graphs, so that it does not appear in the two-loop Regge trajectory. We are unable to prove why this must be the case, however, we can see why there is an iterative structure up to the H-graph. We believe that it would be interesting to explore this at higher loops in the soft sector of the EFT, to understand whether the constants continue to be related to soft anomalous dimensions. We believe this is intriguing, since our arguments constrain the non-maximal weight terms, while the maximal weight terms are constrained to have an iterative form [61] due to the BDS ansatz [62].

4 Leading matter dependence at higher loops

The basic argument leading to the relation between soft and Glauber loops is due to unitarity and crossing symmetry, which continue to hold at arbitrary loop order. It is therefore interesting to explore the consequences of our relation beyond two loop order. However, at this order, one encounters the issue that one has both contributions from single Glauber and triple (or higher) Glauber exchange. The definition of the Regge trajectory at this order requires disentangling these contributions, for which there has recently seen significant progress [44, 47, 63, 64]. While this has a natural resolution in the EFT, where the single and triple Glauber exchanges are described by separate gauge invariant operators, it is beyond the scope of the current discussion, and will be left for a future publication.

To illustrate the iterative structure at higher loops, we instead choose to focus on the simplest possible example of deriving the leading matter dependence. This has the advantage that one does not have to consider triple (or higher) Glauber exchange, since such contributions have additional gluons, and therefore do not have maximal matter dependence. Further, it implies that we do not have to consider the H-graph, and therefore we have a perfect iterative structure. For these terms we find that the relation

$$\alpha(t) = -2\frac{S_2}{S_1}, \tag{4.1}$$

holds to all loop orders. This result allows us to derive the maximal matter dependence of the Regge trajectory at any loop order from the one-loop result. It is crucial to emphasize that this result only holds for all terms associated to the *leading* matter dependence, due



Figure 5. Graphs needed for the calculation of the leading n_f dependence of the Regge trajectory to all orders in α_s .

to the fact that only the class of EFT diagrams in figure 5 contribute. For all other color structures, diagrams with additional Glauber gluons, or with gluons connecting the different Glaubers in figure 5 (generalized H-graphs), would contribute, and break this relation. By restricting to the leading matter contribution, we are able to extend the use of the relation between one- and two-loop graphs, to an all orders relation. While this is of course the simplest piece of the Regge trajectory, we still find the simplicity with which we are able to derive it quite remarkable.

We can actually write down an explicit description of the maximal matter-dependent pieces of S_2 and S_1 to all loop orders. For S_1 , we notice that S_1 can be expressed iteratively in terms of the maximal- n_f one-loop graph. We recall that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \overline{n} & \overline{n} & \overline{n} \\ \overline{n} & \overline{n} & \overline{n} \end{pmatrix}^{(8_A)} = -2n_f T_F S_1^{(0)} \frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{\pi} \left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma_E}}{-t} \right)^{\epsilon} \frac{\Gamma \left(2-\epsilon\right)^2}{\Gamma \left(4-2\epsilon\right)} \Gamma \left(\epsilon\right)$$
$$\equiv S_1^{(0)} \mathcal{A}(t), \qquad (4.2)$$

where we define

$$\mathcal{A}(t) = -2n_f T_F \frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{\pi} \left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma_E}}{-t}\right)^{\epsilon} \frac{\Gamma\left(2-\epsilon\right)^2}{\Gamma\left(4-2\epsilon\right)} \Gamma\left(\epsilon\right) = -\frac{n_f T_f}{\epsilon} \frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s}{\pi} \frac{1-\epsilon}{(3-2\epsilon)(1-2\epsilon)}.$$
 (4.3)

Then the sum of the *n*-loop maximal- n_f one-Glauber graphs, obtained by replacing the soft quark bubble by a string of soft bubbles connected by soft gluons, is given by

$$S_1\Big|_{\alpha_s^{k+1}n_f^k} = \frac{S_1^{(0)}}{1 - \mathcal{A}(t)} = \frac{8\pi i\alpha_s}{t} \frac{1}{1 + \frac{n_f T_f}{\epsilon} \frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s}{\pi} \frac{1 - \epsilon}{(3 - 2\epsilon)(1 - 2\epsilon)}}.$$
(4.4)

We can similarly calculate the leading n_f piece of the two-Glauber exchange by simply adding an arbitrary number of soft quark bubbles in between each of the Glauber attachments as shown in figure 5. Note that a direct calculation of this contribution from purely soft loops would require dressing the n_f dependent graphs in figure 4 by further quark bubbles, which is a significantly more difficult analysis. Our result again depends on $\mathcal{A}(t)$:

$$S_2\Big|_{\alpha_s^{k+2}n_f^k} = S_1^{(0)} \frac{\alpha_s C_A}{8\pi} \left(\frac{4\pi}{-t}\right)^{\epsilon} \sum_{k,m \ge 0} \frac{\Gamma(-(k+1)\epsilon)\Gamma(-(m+1)\epsilon)\Gamma(1+(k+m+1)\epsilon)}{\Gamma(1+k\epsilon)\Gamma(1+m\epsilon)\Gamma(-(k+m+2)\epsilon)} \mathcal{A}(t)^{k+m} \,.$$

$$(4.5)$$

For the terms contributing to the most IR divergent terms, proportional to $\alpha_s^{k+2} n_f^k / \epsilon^{k+1}$ for any k, this sum can be simplified to

$$S_2 \Big|_{\alpha_s^{k+2} n_f^k/\epsilon^{k+1}} = S_1^{(0)} \frac{\alpha_s C_A}{8\pi} \left(\frac{4\pi}{-t}\right)^{\epsilon} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \frac{2\log\left[1-\mathcal{A}(t)\right]}{\mathcal{A}(t)(1-\mathcal{A}(t))} \,. \tag{4.6}$$

Using these results we can compute the maximal n_f -dependent piece of the Regge trajectory:

$$\alpha(t)\Big|_{\alpha_s^{k+1}n_f^k} = -2\frac{S_2\Big|_{\alpha_s^{k+2}n_f^k}}{S_1\Big|_{\alpha_s^{k+1}n_f^k}}$$
(4.7)

$$\begin{split} &= -\frac{\alpha_s C_A}{4\pi} \left(\frac{4\pi}{-t}\right)^{\epsilon} \left[1 - \mathcal{A}(t)\right] \sum_{k,m \ge 0} \frac{\Gamma(-(k+1)\epsilon)\Gamma(-(m+1)\epsilon)\Gamma(1 + (k+m+1)\epsilon)}{\Gamma(1+k\epsilon)\Gamma(1+m\epsilon)\Gamma(-(k+m+2)\epsilon)} \mathcal{A}(t)^{k+m} \\ &= -\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s C_A}{4\pi} \frac{\left[1 - \mathcal{A}(t)\right]}{(-\epsilon/2)B(1,1)} \sum_{k,m \ge 0} \frac{\Gamma(-(k+1)\epsilon)\Gamma(-(m+1)\epsilon)\Gamma(1 + (k+m+1)\epsilon)}{\Gamma(1+k\epsilon)\Gamma(1+m\epsilon)\Gamma(-(k+m+2)\epsilon)} \mathcal{A}(t)^{k+m}, \end{split}$$

where B(1,1) is given by eq. (2.10). This is one of our main results, giving the $\alpha_s^{k+1}n_f^k$ terms in Regge trajectory in a form that is valid to all orders in ϵ and for any k. For the most singular $1/\epsilon$ poles, the terms proportional to $\alpha_s^{k+1}/\epsilon^{k+1}$ for any k, this can be simplified to

$$\alpha(t)\Big|_{\alpha_s^{k+1}n_f^k/\epsilon^{k+1}} = -\frac{\alpha_s C_A}{2\pi} \left(\frac{4\pi}{-t}\right)^{\epsilon} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \frac{\log\left[1-\mathcal{A}(t)\right]}{\mathcal{A}(t)} \\ = -\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s C_A}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \frac{\log\left[1-\mathcal{A}(t)\right]}{\mathcal{A}(t)} \,.$$
(4.8)

While our formula in eq. (4.7) allows us to derive the result for the maximal matter dependent terms of the Regge trajectory at any order, here as an application we explicitly give the results for the infrared divergent $1/\epsilon^k$ terms and the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ terms at order $\alpha_s^3 n_f^2$, $\alpha_s^4 n_f^3$, and $\alpha_s^5 n_f^4$:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(t)\Big|_{\alpha_s^3 n_f^2} &= -\frac{\alpha_s C_A}{4\pi} \left(\frac{4\pi e^{-\gamma_E}}{-t}\right)^{\epsilon} \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s n_f T_f}{\pi}\right)^2 \left[-\frac{2}{27} \frac{1}{\epsilon^3} - \frac{20}{81} \frac{1}{\epsilon^2} + \left(\frac{\pi^2}{162} - \frac{2}{3}\right) \frac{1}{\epsilon} \\ &+ \left(-\frac{1216}{729} + \frac{5\pi^2}{243} + \frac{434\zeta_3}{81}\right)\right] \\ &= -\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s C_A}{4\pi} \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_s n_f T_f}{\pi}\right)^2 \left[-\frac{2}{27} \frac{1}{\epsilon^3} - \frac{20}{81} \frac{1}{\epsilon^2} - \frac{2}{3} \frac{1}{\epsilon} + \left(\frac{140\zeta_3}{27} - \frac{1216}{729}\right)\right], \end{aligned}$$
(4.9)

$$\begin{split} \alpha(t)\Big|_{\alpha_{4}^{4}n_{f}^{3}} &= -\frac{\alpha_{s}C_{A}}{4\pi} \left(\frac{4\pi e^{-\gamma_{E}}}{-t}\right)^{\epsilon} \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_{s}n_{f}T_{f}}{\pi}\right)^{3} \left[\frac{1}{54}\frac{1}{\epsilon^{4}} + \frac{5}{54}\frac{1}{\epsilon^{3}} + \left(-\frac{\pi^{2}}{648} + \frac{53}{162}\right)\frac{1}{\epsilon^{2}} \right. \\ &+ \left(-\frac{529\zeta_{3}}{162} - \frac{5\pi^{2}}{648} + \frac{1457}{1458}\right)\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \left(-\frac{4223\pi^{4}}{77760} - \frac{2645\zeta_{3}}{162} - \frac{53\pi^{2}}{1944} + \frac{2050}{729}\right)\Big] \\ &= -\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_{s}C_{A}}{4\pi} \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_{s}n_{f}T_{f}}{54}\right)^{3} \left[\frac{1}{54}\frac{1}{\epsilon^{4}} + \frac{5}{54}\frac{1}{\epsilon^{3}} + \frac{53}{162}\frac{1}{\epsilon^{2}} + \left(-\frac{29\zeta_{3}}{9} + \frac{1457}{1458}\right)\frac{1}{\epsilon} \right. \\ &+ \left(-\frac{29\pi^{4}}{540} - \frac{145\zeta_{3}}{9} + \frac{2050}{729}\right)\Big], \end{split}$$
(4.10)
$$\alpha(t)\Big|_{\alpha_{5}^{5}n_{f}^{4}} &= -\frac{\alpha_{s}C_{A}}{4\pi} \left(\frac{4\pi e^{-\gamma_{E}}}{-t}\right)^{\epsilon} \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_{s}n_{f}T_{f}}{\pi}\right)^{4} \left[-\frac{2}{405}\frac{1}{\epsilon^{5}} - \frac{8}{243}\frac{1}{\epsilon^{4}} + \left(\frac{\pi^{2}}{2430} - \frac{524}{3645}\right)\frac{1}{\epsilon^{3}} \right. \\ &+ \left(\frac{2102\zeta_{3}}{1215} + \frac{2\pi^{2}}{729} - \frac{5672}{10935}\right)\frac{1}{\epsilon^{2}} + \left(\frac{8399\pi^{4}}{291600} + \frac{8408\zeta_{3}}{729} + \frac{131\pi^{2}}{10935} - \frac{54946}{32805}\right)\frac{1}{\epsilon} \right. \\ &+ \left(\frac{4426\zeta_{5}}{75} + \frac{8399\pi^{4}}{43470} + \frac{550724\zeta_{3}}{10935} - \frac{1051\pi^{2}\zeta_{3}}{7290} + \frac{1418\pi^{2}}{1325} - \frac{494528}{98415}\right)\right] \\ &= -\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_{s}C_{A}}{4\pi} \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_{s}n_{f}T_{f}}{\pi}\right)^{4} \left[-\frac{2}{405}\frac{1}{\epsilon^{5}} - \frac{8}{243}\frac{1}{\epsilon^{4}} - \frac{524}{3645}\frac{1}{\epsilon^{3}} + \left(\frac{232\zeta_{3}}{135} - \frac{5672}{10935}\right)\frac{1}{\epsilon^{2}} \right. \\ &+ \left(\frac{58\pi^{4}}{2025} + \frac{928\zeta_{3}}{81} - \frac{54946}{32805}\right)\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \left(\frac{23888\zeta_{5}}{405} + \frac{232\pi^{4}}{1215} + \frac{60784\zeta_{3}}{1215} - \frac{494528}{98415}\right)\right]. \\ \end{split}$$

There are a number of cross checks on these results. First, our result for the leading- n_f piece of the three-loop Regge trajectory $\alpha \Big|_{n_f}^{\alpha_s^3 n_f^2}$, including the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ terms, agrees with the recent explicit calculations [44, 45] (see also [65] for an earlier calculation of the planar pure Yang-Mills contributions). Note that our conventions differ from those used in [45]; their three-loop Regge trajectory includes the order- α_s^3 contributions from the running coupling α_s , while our expression is written in terms of the bare coupling α_s or $\tilde{\alpha}_s$. In addition, the singular terms (containing $1/\epsilon$ or higher poles) in our expressions for the leading- n_f Regge trajectory $\alpha \Big|_{n_f}^{\alpha_s^4 n_f^3}$ and $\alpha \Big|_{n_f}^{\alpha_s^5 n_f^4}$ agree at four- and five-loop order with the prediction from infrared factorization [30, 31, 39–41, 43]:

$$K(\alpha_s) = -\frac{1}{4} \int_0^{\mu^2} \frac{d\lambda^2}{\lambda^2} \hat{\gamma}_K(\alpha_s(\lambda)).$$
(4.12)

Here $K(\alpha_s)$ denotes the ϵ -divergent terms in the Regge trajectory, and the formula above relates $K(\alpha_s)$ to the cusp anomalous dimension $\hat{\gamma}_K$. Here and below we use the notation $\hat{\gamma}_K = \Gamma_{\text{cusp}}$ and $\hat{\gamma}_K^{(i)} = \Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(i)}$ to facilitate the comparison to the literature [40, 43]. Explicit expressions for $K(\alpha_s)$ are known to four loops [52, 66–68]. The maximally matter dependent terms of $\hat{\gamma}_K$ are also known [69]. Writing

$$\hat{\gamma}_{K} = \sum_{i \ge 1} \hat{\gamma}_{K}^{(i)} \left(\frac{\alpha_{s}(\lambda)}{\pi}\right)^{i} = \sum_{i \ge 1} \hat{\gamma}_{K}^{(i)} \left[\frac{Z_{\alpha}(\alpha_{s}(\mu), \epsilon)}{Z_{\alpha}(\alpha_{s}(\lambda), \epsilon)} \left(\frac{\mu^{2}}{\lambda^{2}}\right)^{\epsilon} \frac{\alpha_{s}(\mu)}{\pi}\right]^{i}, \quad (4.13)$$
$$K(\alpha_{s}) = \sum_{i \ge 1} K^{(i)} \left(\frac{\alpha_{s}}{\pi}\right)^{i},$$

we find the following expressions for $K^{(4)}$ and $K^{(5)}$:

$$\begin{split} K^{(4)} &= -\frac{\beta_0 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(1)}}{1024\epsilon^4} + \frac{\beta_0 \beta_1 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(1)}}{128\epsilon^3} + \frac{\beta_0^2 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(2)}}{256\epsilon^3} - \frac{\beta_2 \gamma_K^{(1)}}{64\epsilon^2} - \frac{\beta_1 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(2)}}{64\epsilon^2} - \frac{\beta_0 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(3)}}{64\epsilon^2} + \frac{\hat{\gamma}_K^{(4)}}{16\epsilon} , \qquad (4.14) \\ K^{(5)} &= \frac{\beta_0^4 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(1)}}{5120\epsilon^5} - \frac{3\beta_0^2 \beta_1 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(1)}}{1280\epsilon^4} - \frac{\beta_0^3 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(2)}}{1280\epsilon^4} + \frac{\beta_1^2 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(2)}}{320\epsilon^2} + \frac{\beta_0 \beta_2 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(1)}}{160\epsilon^3} + \frac{\beta_0 \beta_1 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(2)}}{160\epsilon^3} \\ &+ \frac{\beta_0^2 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(3)}}{320\epsilon^3} - \frac{\beta_3 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(1)}}{80\epsilon^2} - \frac{\beta_2 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(1)}}{80\epsilon^2} - \frac{\beta_1 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(3)}}{80\epsilon^2} - \frac{\beta_0 \hat{\gamma}_K^{(4)}}{80\epsilon^2} + \frac{\hat{\gamma}_K^{(5)}}{20\epsilon} . \end{split}$$

Using the all-orders leading- n_f cusp anomalous dimension in [69], which we re-express in terms of the bare coupling, we find perfect agreement between the $K^{(i)}$ and the singular pieces, $1/\epsilon^k$ for $k \ge 1$, of our leading- n_f Regge trajectory up to five-loop order in eq. (4.9). This provides further evidence in support of the conjecture in [41].

To the best of our knowledge, the constant $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ terms of the leading- n_f Regge trajectory at four- and five-loop order in eq. (4.9) are new. Our more general result in eq. (4.7) can be used to make analogous predictions for leading n_f terms at higher orders in α_s , as well as higher orders in ϵ .

5 Conclusions

In this paper we have reconsidered the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitude in the Regge limit from the perspective of the Glauber EFT [33]. While various forms of factorization in the high energy limit have of course long been appreciated, in this paper we have argued that the standard factorization into impact factors, obscures some of the underlying simplicity of the constants appearing in these functions.

Using the Glauber EFT, we factorized the amplitude into separate gauge invariant soft and collinear functions. The soft functions are universal (i.e. independent of the projectiles) and describe radiative corrections to the Reggeized gluons. We computed these universal functions at one loop to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ in dimensional regularization. We found, quite remarkably, that they are expressed in terms of two loop anomalous dimensions of Wilson line configurations, without any contamination.

We then argued that this iterative structure follows from the action of crossing symmetry on graphs in the EFT. Since the EFT factorizes loops into soft, collinear and Glauber modes, crossing symmetry acts non-trivially and relates contributions from different modes. In particular, we find that it can be used to eliminate a soft loop in exchange for a much simpler Glauber loop. Using this, we were able to provide a simple calculation of the two-loop Regge trajectory, and also explain some of the iterative structures observed in [32].

We also explored the structure of the iterations at higher orders. In particular, as a simple application, we were able to derive the maximal- n_f terms in the Regge trajectory to all orders in α_s . We checked our result against the recent α_s^3 calculation of [44, 65, 70] finding perfect agreement. We also provided explicit results for the $\alpha_s^4 n_f^3$ and $\alpha_s^5 n_f^4$ terms in the Regge trajectory. We find it quite interesting that this relation allows us to show iterative properties of the maximal- n_f terms, while iteration of the maximally transcendental pieces

follows from their relation to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. We hope that further understanding may enable some iterative properties of QCD amplitudes to emerge in the Regge limit.

There are many directions for future study. Using an identical approach combined with the Glauber quark operators [60] (see [71] for a verification of these operators at one-loop order), one should be able to give a simple direct calculation of the two-loop quark Regge trajectory in QCD/QED, which has so far only be derived from direct expansion of the two loop amplitudes [72]. Also at the two-loop level, it would be interesting to understand possible iterative structures in other color channels, for example the pomeron.

More non-trivially, it will be extremely interesting to understand the structure of the iterative relations at the three-loop level. This requires an understanding of the interplay between one- and three-Glauber exchange in the EFT, but we are hopeful that the clean factorization of the EFT may also allow interesting patterns to be unravelled at this order. There has recently been significant progress in understanding the structure of multiple Reggeon exchanges from a variety of different approaches [44, 47, 64], which resulted in the direct determination of [44, 65, 70]. An independent calculation of this result using the EFT would be quite interesting.

We are optimistic that the organization of the EFT for forward scattering can provide new insights into the Regge limit, and that despite many years of intensive study there are still interesting surprises hinting at much more structure yet to be discovered.

Acknowledgments

We thanks Vittorio Del Duca, Hua Xing Zhu, Duff Neill, George Sterman, Lance Dixon for interesting discussions and for sharing their numerological observations. We also thank Anjie Gao for providing many helpful comments on the draft. This work was supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics, from DE-SC0011090. I.M. was supported by start-up funds from Yale University. I.S. was also supported in part by the Simons Foundation through the Investigator grant 327942.

A Rapidity regulators for Glauber potentials and soft operators

For calculations in SCET with Glauber operators, rapidity regulators are required, both for Glauber loops which lead to $i\pi$ factors, and for soft and collinear loops where they are associated with the rapidity logarithms. We follow the regulators of ref. [33] for this purpose, which are based on the rapidity regulator η of ref. [55]. However, we have found that some modifications and additions are needed to fully and consistently regulate diagrams at two-loop order and beyond in the Glauber EFT. Those changes are summarized here.

The first change we make is to decouple the regulator used for Glauber loops from that used for soft and collinear loops. Usually in an EFT it is important to consistently use the same regulator for the EFT loops, since the regulator can act to separate contributions in different regions, and must do so consistently. Indeed this is the case for rapidity divergences in soft and collinear loops that are associated with Reggeization, where these loops individually have $1/\eta$ divergences that cancel in their sum, see [33]. We observe however that the regulator for Glauber loops acts in a different manner, it leads to finite results as $\eta \to 0$, and these results are exactly the terms necessary to preserve unitarity for forward scattering in the EFT. Therefore it is reasonable that a different regulators η' can be used for the Glauber loops. However we argue that it is not only reasonable, but necessary to the consistency of the EFT to separate these regulators, and to take $\eta' \to 0$ prior to taking $\eta \to 0$. To see this one can examine the diagram in figure 3e. The collinear sub-loop in this diagram has a $1/\eta$ divergence. However, by the arguments of ref. [33] this diagram should have a Glauber loop that causes the diagram to vanish, since the Glauber potentials are interrupted by the collinear gluon vertex from collapsing onto the same longitudinal position, leading to terms $\propto \eta'/\eta$. Consistency of the EFT requires that the collapse rule, at the heart of the (t, z) instantaneity for the Glauber potential, be maintained, and therefore that we take $\eta' \to 0$ prior to expanding about $\eta \to 0$. Further details of this discussion are left to ref. [59]. To utilize independent Glauber regulators we write

$$\int d^{4}x \, \mathcal{L}_{G}^{\mathrm{II}(0)} = \sum_{n,\bar{n}} \sum_{i,j=q,g} \int [dx^{\pm}] \sum_{k_{r}^{+},k_{r}^{-}} \int \frac{d^{2}q_{\perp}}{q_{\perp}^{2}} \frac{d^{2}q'_{\perp}}{q'_{\perp}^{2}} \, \mathcal{O}_{s,-k_{r}^{\pm}}^{AB}(q_{\perp},q'_{\perp}) \tag{A.1}$$

$$\times \left[\mathcal{O}_{n,k_{r}^{-}}^{iA}(q_{\perp}) \, w'^{2} \middle| \frac{in \cdot \overleftarrow{\partial} + i\bar{n} \cdot \overrightarrow{\partial}}{\nu'} \middle|^{-\eta'} \, \mathcal{O}_{\bar{n},k_{r}^{+}}^{jB}(-q'_{\perp}) \right]$$

$$+ \sum_{n} \sum_{i,j=q,g} \int [dx^{\pm}] \, \sum_{k_{r}^{-}} \int \frac{d^{2}q_{\perp}}{q_{\perp}^{2}} \, \mathcal{O}_{n,-k_{r}^{-}}^{iA}(q_{\perp}) \, w' \left| \frac{-\beta_{ns} \, k_{r}^{-} - i\bar{n} \cdot \overleftarrow{\partial} - in \cdot \overrightarrow{\partial}}{\nu'} \right|^{-\eta'/2} \, \mathcal{O}_{s,k_{r}^{-}}^{jA}(-q_{\perp}) \, .$$

Here the rapidity scale ν' and book-keeping parameter w' (whose renormalized value is 1) will be irrelevant to the result for Glauber loop graphs, which are all finite as $\eta' \to 0$. In addition we have used a regulator for the soft-collinear part of the Glauber potential with a power $-\eta'/2$. This ensures that graphs like those in figure 2a,b involve the same regulating factor for their Glauber loops as the base box diagram in eq. (2.30). While this does not have a direct impact on the calculations carried out here, it does ensure that the exponentiation associated to the eikonal phase works out properly in the presence of soft fluctuations of the Glauber potentials.

Next we discuss an extension of the regulating factors η for soft and collinear Wilson lines used in [33], which we find are necessary beyond one-loop order. At two loop order there are rapidity divergences in diagrams that do not involve Wilson line Feynman rules in our operator basis. Also certain cancellations associated to the equations of motion can be blocked when regulators only appear in Wilson lines. This requires additional regulating factors for both collinear and soft operators. In particular, we find that it is important for the overall regulator to appear homogeneously in the one-gluon $B_{s\perp}^{n\mu}$ Feynman rule, and in the soft gluon regulator for the Lipatov vertex. Again the detailed arguments for this are left to ref. [59], and we simply summarize the modified regulators here. A list of operators with additional regulators is given in table 1. These regulators modify the Feynman rules

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{O}_{n}^{gB} &= \frac{i}{2} f^{BCD} \mathcal{B}_{n\perp\mu}^{C} \frac{\bar{n}}{2} \cdot (\mathcal{P} + \mathcal{P}^{\dagger}) w^{-2} \left| \frac{\bar{n}}{2} \cdot \frac{(\mathcal{P} + \mathcal{P}^{\dagger})}{\nu} \right|^{\eta} \mathcal{B}_{n\perp}^{D\mu} \\ \mathcal{O}_{s}^{BC} &= 8\pi \alpha_{s} \left\{ \mathcal{P}_{\perp}^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{n}^{T} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{n}} \mathcal{P}_{\perp\mu} - \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\perp} g \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_{S\perp}^{n\mu} \mathcal{S}_{n}^{T} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{n}} - \mathcal{S}_{n}^{T} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{n}} g \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_{S\perp}^{\bar{n}\mu} \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\perp} \\ &- g \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_{S\perp}^{n\mu} \mathcal{S}_{n}^{T} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{n}} g \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_{S\perp\mu}^{\bar{n}} - w \left| \frac{2\mathcal{P}^{z}}{\nu} \right|^{-\eta/2} \frac{n_{\mu} \bar{n}_{\nu}}{2} \mathcal{S}_{n}^{T} i g \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{s}^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{n}} \right\}^{BC} \\ \mathcal{O}_{s}^{g_{n}B} &= 8\pi \alpha_{s} \left(\frac{i}{2} f^{BCD} \mathcal{B}_{S\perp\mu}^{nC} \frac{n}{2} \cdot (\mathcal{P} + \mathcal{P}^{\dagger}) w \left| \frac{2\mathcal{P}_{z} + 2\mathcal{P}_{z}^{\dagger}}{\nu} \right|^{\eta/2} \mathcal{B}_{S\perp}^{nD\mu} \right) \\ W_{n} &= \sum_{\text{perms}} \exp \left\{ \frac{-g}{\bar{n} \cdot \mathcal{P}} \left[\frac{w^{2} |\bar{n} \cdot \mathcal{P}|^{-\eta}}{\nu^{-\eta}} \bar{n} \cdot A_{n} \right] \right\}, \qquad S_{n} = \sum_{\text{perms}} \exp \left\{ \frac{-g}{n \cdot \mathcal{P}} \left[w \left| \frac{2\mathcal{P}^{z}}{\nu} \right|^{-\eta/2} n \cdot A_{s} \right] \right\} \\ \mathcal{B}_{n\perp}^{\mu} &= \left(A_{n\perp}^{\mu} w \left| \frac{\bar{n} \cdot \mathcal{P}}{\nu} \right|^{-\eta/2} - \frac{k_{\perp}^{\mu}}{\bar{n} \cdot k} \bar{n} \cdot A_{n,k} w^{2} \left| \frac{\bar{n} \cdot \mathcal{P}}{\nu} \right|^{-\eta} \right) + \dots \\ \mathcal{B}_{s\perp}^{n\mu} &= \frac{1}{g} \frac{1}{n \cdot \mathcal{P}} w \left| \frac{2\mathcal{P}^{z}}{\nu} \right|^{-\eta/2} n_{\nu} i G_{s}^{B\nu\mu} \mathcal{S}_{n}^{BA} T^{A} = w \left| \frac{2\mathcal{P}^{z}}{\nu} \right|^{-\eta/2} \left(A_{s\perp}^{\mu} - \frac{k_{\perp}^{\mu}}{n \cdot k} n \cdot A_{s,k} \right) + \dots \end{aligned}$$

Table 1. Summary of regulators within the operators appearing in the leading power Glauber exchange Lagrangian. For all operators except \mathcal{O}_s^{BC} there exists an analogous $n \leftrightarrow \bar{n}$ operator.

involving soft gluons listed in ref. [33] so that they are now (setting $\eta' = 0$ for simplicity)

$$\frac{\hat{n}}{\sum_{\mu,B}} = \frac{-8\pi\alpha_{s}f^{ABC}}{(\vec{\ell}_{\perp}' - \vec{k}_{\perp}')^{2}} \left[\bar{u}_{n}\frac{\vec{\eta}}{2}T^{A}u_{n} \right] \left[n \cdot k' g_{\perp}^{\mu\nu} - n^{\mu}\ell_{\perp}^{\prime\nu} - n^{\nu}k_{\perp}^{\prime\mu} + \frac{\ell_{\perp}' \cdot k_{\perp}'n^{\mu}n^{\nu}}{n \cdot k'} \right] \\
\times w \left| \frac{n \cdot k' - \bar{n} \cdot l'}{\nu} \right|^{-\eta/2} \left| \frac{n \cdot k' - \bar{n} \cdot k'}{\nu} \right|^{-\eta/2} \left| \frac{2n \cdot k' - \bar{n} \cdot (k' + \ell')}{\nu} \right|^{+\eta/2},$$
(A.2)

where we note that the soft $n \cdot \ell' = n \cdot k'$, and for the Lipatov vertex we have

For completeness, we also list the new Feynman rule for the collinear sector (again setting $\eta' = 0$ for simplicity),

$$\frac{\tilde{n}}{\tilde{n}} = \frac{-8\pi\alpha_s f^{ABC}}{(\tilde{\ell}_{\perp}' - \tilde{k}_{\perp}')^2} \left[\bar{u}_n \frac{\tilde{\eta}}{2} T^A u_n \right]$$

$$\times \left[n \cdot k' g_{\perp}^{\mu\nu} - \left(n^{\mu} \ell_{\perp}^{\prime\nu} + n^{\nu} k_{\perp}^{\prime\mu} \right) w \left| \frac{n \cdot k'}{\nu} \right|^{-\eta/2} + \frac{\ell_{\perp}' \cdot k_{\perp}' n^{\mu} n^{\nu}}{n \cdot k'} w^2 \left| \frac{n \cdot k'}{\nu} \right|^{-\eta} \right].$$
(A.4)

For \bar{n} -collinear gluons scattering with *n*-collinear quarks we have a similar Feynman rule, just with $n \leftrightarrow \bar{n}$. Also for a *n*-collinear gluon scattering with an \bar{n} -collinear gluon, the same combinations of regulating factors appear in each of the two-gluon parts of the Feynman rule.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- M. Gell-Mann et al., Elementary Particles of Conventional Field Theory as Regge Poles. III, Phys. Rev. 133 (1964) B145 [INSPIRE].
- [2] S. Mandelstam, Non-Regge Terms in the Vector-Spinor Theory, Phys. Rev. 137 (1965) B949 [INSPIRE].
- [3] B.M. McCoy and T.T. Wu, Theory of Fermion Exchange in Massive Quantum Electrodynamics at High-Energy. 1, Phys. Rev. D 13 (1976) 369 [INSPIRE].
- [4] M.T. Grisaru, H.J. Schnitzer and H.-S. Tsao, Reggeization of elementary particles in renormalizable gauge theories: vectors and spinors, Phys. Rev. D 8 (1973) 4498 [INSPIRE].
- [5] V.S. Fadin, E.A. Kuraev and L.N. Lipatov, On the Pomeranchuk Singularity in Asymptotically Free Theories, Phys. Lett. B 60 (1975) 50 [INSPIRE].
- [6] E.A. Kuraev, L.N. Lipatov and V.S. Fadin, Multi-Reggeon Processes in the Yang-Mills Theory, Sov. Phys. JETP 44 (1976) 443 [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 71 (1976) 840] [INSPIRE].
- [7] L.N. Lipatov, Reggeization of the Vector Meson and the Vacuum Singularity in Nonabelian Gauge Theories, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 23 (1976) 338 [Yad. Fiz. 23 (1976) 642] [INSPIRE].
- [8] E.A. Kuraev, L.N. Lipatov and V.S. Fadin, The Pomeranchuk Singularity in Nonabelian Gauge Theories, Sov. Phys. JETP 45 (1977) 199 [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 72 (1977) 377] [INSPIRE].
- [9] I.I. Balitsky and L.N. Lipatov, The Pomeranchuk Singularity in Quantum Chromodynamics, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 28 (1978) 822 [Yad. Fiz. 28 (1978) 1597] [INSPIRE].
- [10] L.N. Lipatov, The Bare Pomeron in Quantum Chromodynamics, Sov. Phys. JETP 63 (1986) 904 [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 90 (1986) 1536] [INSPIRE].
- [11] L.N. Lipatov, Gauge invariant effective action for high-energy processes in QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 452 (1995) 369 [hep-ph/9502308] [INSPIRE].
- [12] L.N. Lipatov, Asymptotic behavior of multicolor QCD at high energies in connection with exactly solvable spin models, JETP Lett. 59 (1994) 596 [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 59 (1994) 571] [hep-th/9311037] [INSPIRE].
- [13] L.D. Faddeev and G.P. Korchemsky, High-energy QCD as a completely integrable model, Phys. Lett. B 342 (1995) 311 [hep-th/9404173] [INSPIRE].
- [14] L.J. Dixon, C. Duhr and J. Pennington, Single-valued harmonic polylogarithms and the multi-Regge limit, JHEP 10 (2012) 074 [arXiv:1207.0186] [INSPIRE].
- [15] V. Del Duca et al., Multi-Regge kinematics and the moduli space of Riemann spheres with marked points, JHEP 08 (2016) 152 [arXiv:1606.08807] [INSPIRE].

- [16] V. Del Duca, C. Duhr, R. Marzucca and B. Verbeek, The analytic structure and the transcendental weight of the BFKL ladder at NLL accuracy, JHEP 10 (2017) 001 [arXiv:1705.10163] [INSPIRE].
- [17] V. Del Duca, C. Duhr, F. Dulat and B. Penante, All two-loop MHV remainder functions in multi-Regge kinematics, JHEP 01 (2019) 162 [arXiv:1811.10398] [INSPIRE].
- [18] V. Del Duca et al., The seven-gluon amplitude in multi-Regge kinematics beyond leading logarithmic accuracy, JHEP 06 (2018) 116 [arXiv:1801.10605] [INSPIRE].
- [19] L.J. Dixon, M. von Hippel and A.J. McLeod, The four-loop six-gluon NMHV ratio function, JHEP 01 (2016) 053 [arXiv:1509.08127] [INSPIRE].
- [20] O. Almelid et al., Bootstrapping the QCD soft anomalous dimension, JHEP 09 (2017) 073 [arXiv:1706.10162] [INSPIRE].
- [21] S. Caron-Huot et al., Six-Gluon amplitudes in planar $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills theory at six and seven loops, JHEP 08 (2019) 016 [arXiv:1903.10890] [INSPIRE].
- [22] B. Basso, S. Caron-Huot and A. Sever, Adjoint BFKL at finite coupling: a short-cut from the collinear limit, JHEP 01 (2015) 027 [arXiv:1407.3766] [INSPIRE].
- [23] T. Bargheer, V. Chestnov and V. Schomerus, The Multi-Regge Limit from the Wilson Loop OPE, JHEP 05 (2020) 002 [arXiv:1906.00990] [INSPIRE].
- [24] V. Del Duca et al., All-order amplitudes at any multiplicity in the multi-Regge limit, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 161602 [arXiv:1912.00188] [INSPIRE].
- [25] J.M. Drummond, J. Henn, G.P. Korchemsky and E. Sokatchev, Dual superconformal symmetry of scattering amplitudes in N=4 super-Yang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 828 (2010) 317 [arXiv:0807.1095] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J.M. Drummond, J. Henn, G.P. Korchemsky and E. Sokatchev, Conformal Ward identities for Wilson loops and a test of the duality with gluon amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 826 (2010) 337 [arXiv:0712.1223] [INSPIRE].
- [27] J.M. Drummond, J. Henn, G.P. Korchemsky and E. Sokatchev, *Hexagon Wilson loop* = six-gluon MHV amplitude, Nucl. Phys. B 815 (2009) 142 [arXiv:0803.1466] [INSPIRE].
- [28] J.M. Drummond, J. Henn, G.P. Korchemsky and E. Sokatchev, On planar gluon amplitudes/Wilson loops duality, Nucl. Phys. B 795 (2008) 52 [arXiv:0709.2368] [INSPIRE].
- [29] J.M. Drummond, G.P. Korchemsky and E. Sokatchev, Conformal properties of four-gluon planar amplitudes and Wilson loops, Nucl. Phys. B 795 (2008) 385 [arXiv:0707.0243] [INSPIRE].
- [30] I.A. Korchemskaya and G.P. Korchemsky, Evolution equation for gluon Regge trajectory, Phys. Lett. B 387 (1996) 346 [hep-ph/9607229] [INSPIRE].
- [31] I.A. Korchemskaya and G.P. Korchemsky, *High-energy scattering in QCD and cross singularities of Wilson loops*, *Nucl. Phys. B* **437** (1995) 127 [hep-ph/9409446] [INSPIRE].
- [32] V. Del Duca, Iterating QCD scattering amplitudes in the high-energy limit, JHEP **02** (2018) 112 [arXiv:1712.07030] [INSPIRE].
- [33] I.Z. Rothstein and I.W. Stewart, An Effective Field Theory for Forward Scattering and Factorization Violation, JHEP 08 (2016) 025 [arXiv:1601.04695] [INSPIRE].
- [34] C.W. Bauer, S. Fleming and M.E. Luke, Summing Sudakov logarithms in $B \to X_s \gamma in$ effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2000) 014006 [hep-ph/0005275] [INSPIRE].

- [35] C.W. Bauer, S. Fleming, D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, An effective field theory for collinear and soft gluons: Heavy to light decays, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 114020 [hep-ph/0011336]
 [INSPIRE].
- [36] C.W. Bauer and I.W. Stewart, Invariant operators in collinear effective theory, Phys. Lett. B 516 (2001) 134 [hep-ph/0107001] [INSPIRE].
- [37] C.W. Bauer, D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, Soft collinear factorization in effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 054022 [hep-ph/0109045] [INSPIRE].
- [38] C.W. Bauer et al., Hard scattering factorization from effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 014017 [hep-ph/0202088] [INSPIRE].
- [39] V. Del Duca et al., An infrared approach to Reggeization, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 071104 [arXiv:1108.5947] [INSPIRE].
- [40] V. Del Duca et al., The infrared structure of gauge theory amplitudes in the high-energy limit, JHEP 12 (2011) 021 [arXiv:1109.3581] [INSPIRE].
- [41] G. Falcioni et al., Scattering amplitudes in the Regge limit and the soft anomalous dimension through four loops, JHEP 03 (2022) 053 [arXiv:2111.10664] [INSPIRE].
- [42] V. Del Duca and E.W.N. Glover, The High-energy limit of QCD at two loops, JHEP 10 (2001)
 035 [hep-ph/0109028] [INSPIRE].
- [43] V. Del Duca, G. Falcioni, L. Magnea and L. Vernazza, *High-energy QCD amplitudes at two loops and beyond*, *Phys. Lett. B* 732 (2014) 233 [arXiv:1311.0304] [INSPIRE].
- [44] G. Falcioni et al., Disentangling the Regge Cut and Regge Pole in Perturbative QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 132001 [arXiv:2112.11098] [INSPIRE].
- [45] F. Caola et al., Three-loop helicity amplitudes for four-quark scattering in massless QCD, JHEP 10 (2021) 206 [arXiv:2108.00055] [INSPIRE].
- [46] I. Moult, S. Raman, G. Ridgway and I.W. Stewart, to appear.
- [47] S. Caron-Huot, E. Gardi and L. Vernazza, *Two-parton scattering in the high-energy limit*, *JHEP* **06** (2017) 016 [arXiv:1701.05241] [INSPIRE].
- [48] V.S. Fadin, M.I. Kotsky and R. Fiore, Gluon Reggeization in QCD in the next-to-leading order, Phys. Lett. B 359 (1995) 181 [INSPIRE].
- [49] V.S. Fadin, R. Fiore and M.I. Kotsky, Gluon Regge trajectory in the two loop approximation, Phys. Lett. B 387 (1996) 593 [hep-ph/9605357] [INSPIRE].
- [50] V.S. Fadin, R. Fiore and A. Quartarolo, Reggeization of quark quark scattering amplitude in QCD, Phys. Rev. D 53 (1996) 2729 [hep-ph/9506432] [INSPIRE].
- [51] J. Blumlein, V. Ravindran and W.L. van Neerven, On the gluon Regge trajectory in $O(\alpha_s^2)$, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 091502 [hep-ph/9806357] [INSPIRE].
- [52] G.P. Korchemsky and A.V. Radyushkin, Renormalization of the Wilson Loops Beyond the Leading Order, Nucl. Phys. B 283 (1987) 342 [INSPIRE].
- [53] O. Erdoğan and G. Sterman, Gauge Theory Webs and Surfaces, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 016003 [arXiv:1112.4564] [INSPIRE].
- [54] G. Falcioni, E. Gardi and C. Milloy, Relating amplitude and PDF factorisation through Wilson-line geometries, JHEP 11 (2019) 100 [arXiv:1909.00697] [INSPIRE].

- [55] J.-Y. Chiu, A. Jain, D. Neill and I.Z. Rothstein, A Formalism for the Systematic Treatment of Rapidity Logarithms in Quantum Field Theory, JHEP 05 (2012) 084 [arXiv:1202.0814] [INSPIRE].
- [56] S. Caron-Huot, When does the gluon reggeize?, JHEP 05 (2015) 093 [arXiv:1309.6521] [INSPIRE].
- [57] D.I. Kazakov, Multiloop Calculations: Method of Uniqueness and Functional Equations, Teor. Mat. Fiz. 62 (1984) 127 [INSPIRE].
- [58] A.V. Kotikov and S. Teber, Multi-loop techniques for massless Feynman diagram calculations, Phys. Part. Nucl. 50 (2019) 1 [arXiv:1805.05109] [INSPIRE].
- [59] A. Gao, I. Moult, S. Raman, G. Ridgway and I.W. Stewart, to appear.
- [60] I. Moult, M.P. Solon, I.W. Stewart and G. Vita, Fermionic Glauber Operators and Quark Reggeization, JHEP 02 (2018) 134 [arXiv:1709.09174] [INSPIRE].
- [61] V. Del Duca, C. Duhr and E.W.N. Glover, Iterated amplitudes in the high-energy limit, JHEP
 12 (2008) 097 [arXiv:0809.1822] [INSPIRE].
- [62] Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon and V.A. Smirnov, Iteration of planar amplitudes in maximally supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory at three loops and beyond, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 085001
 [hep-th/0505205] [INSPIRE].
- [63] S. Caron-Huot and M. Herranen, *High-energy evolution to three loops*, *JHEP* **02** (2018) 058 [arXiv:1604.07417] [INSPIRE].
- [64] G. Falcioni, E. Gardi, C. Milloy and L. Vernazza, Climbing three-Reggeon ladders: four-loop amplitudes in the high-energy limit in full colour, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) L111501 [arXiv:2012.00613] [INSPIRE].
- [65] V. Del Duca, R. Marzucca and B. Verbeek, The gluon Regge trajectory at three loops from planar Yang-Mills theory, JHEP 01 (2022) 149 [arXiv:2111.14265] [INSPIRE].
- [66] S. Moch, J.A.M. Vermaseren and A. Vogt, The three loop splitting functions in QCD: The nonsinglet case, Nucl. Phys. B 688 (2004) 101 [hep-ph/0403192] [INSPIRE].
- [67] J.M. Henn, G.P. Korchemsky and B. Mistlberger, The full four-loop cusp anomalous dimension in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills and QCD, JHEP 04 (2020) 018 [arXiv:1911.10174] [INSPIRE].
- [68] T. Huber et al., The four-loop cusp anomalous dimension from the N = 4 Sudakov form factor, Phys. Lett. B 807 (2020) 135543 [arXiv:1912.13459] [INSPIRE].
- [69] N.G. Gracia and V. Mateu, Toward massless and massive event shapes in the large- β_0 limit, JHEP 07 (2021) 229 [arXiv:2104.13942] [INSPIRE].
- [70] F. Caola et al., Three-Loop Gluon Scattering in QCD and the Gluon Regge Trajectory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 212001 [arXiv:2112.11097] [INSPIRE].
- [71] A. Bhattacharya, A.V. Manohar and M.D. Schwartz, Quark-gluon backscattering in the Regge limit at one-loop, JHEP 02 (2022) 091 [arXiv:2110.02978] [INSPIRE].
- [72] A.V. Bogdan, V. Del Duca, V.S. Fadin and E.W.N. Glover, The quark Regge trajectory at two loops, JHEP 03 (2002) 032 [hep-ph/0201240] [INSPIRE].